CHAPTER XIX
HiLL 10 anp CriocoLats HiLL

(Map 3; Sketches A, 23, 24)

7 Aug. SIxX battalions of the roth (Irish) Division steamed into Suvla
Map 3. Bay at daybreak on the 7tn August to be thrown straight into
Sketch the fight! These troops had been living on board ship since

A

the 11th July, and throughout that period, except for a few
route marches in Mitylene, their cnly chance of exercise had
been deck-parades and sports. Owing to the excess of secrecy
already noticed, 10t even their commander (Br.-Genera! F. F.
Hill) had been given any information about the operations in
front of him; and when he arrived in the bay, and was greeted
with shrapnel fire, he was as ignorant of what was happening,
or what he was expected to do, as his most junior subaltern.
Half an hour after his arrival, a steamboat came alongside to,
take him to the corps commander. ;

Overnight General Stopford had intended to land the whole
of the 1oth Division®at A Beach, to complete the capture of the
Kiretch Tepe ridge. But, from what Commander Unwin had
told him at daybreak, a landing at A seemed out of the question,
and no other suitable beach had yet been found inside the bay.
He now ordcred Hill, therefore, to take his six battalions to C
bea ™. and place himself under General Hammersley’s orders
till the arrival of his own divisionzl commander. If Hammersley
could not be found, Hill was to support the 11th Division troops
near Hill 10, and also to cumplete the capture of the Kiretch
Tepe ridge. Stopford explained that the main task of the corps
was to secure Suvla Bay as a base of operations, and that this

! The 31ct Brigade complete, with the 6/ and 7/R. Dublin Fusilicrs
(3oth Brigade) attached. See Order f Battle at end of Volume.

? Lieut.-General Mahon, commanding the division, w: 3 also duc at day-
break from Mudros with th: rest of the 3oth Brigade (Br.-General L. L.
Nicol), the 5.Royal Irish (Pioneers) and three field companiecs R.E. These
troops, with Hill’s six batta'ions, constituted his whole command, as the
2th Brigzde was at Anzac and his divisional artillery in Egypt.
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could only be accomplished by holding the Tckke Tepe ridge 7 Aug.
from Ejclmer Bay to Anafarta Sagir.!

Ililﬂrcturncd to his flcct-sweeper; but, before his troops had
begun to disembark, Commodore Keyes, Admiral de Robeck’s
Chicf of Staff, arrived on board the Jonguil with the news that
a landing-place had been found on the northern arm of the
bay. Hesuggested that Hill’s troops should be landed there, As
Stopford wanted to use these troops on the northern flark, it is
plain that this would have been the better plan. But General
Stopford and Admircl Christian replied that Hill had been
given his orders, and that to change them now would lead to
delay and confusion.

Soon after this decision had been reached, Major F. G.
Fuller of the corps staff, who had gone ashore at daybreak
to discover the situation, returned to the Jonguil with such
news as Hammersley had been able to give him at 6 A
Hammersley had added that he would send Hill’s troops along
the Kiretch Tepe ridge, and would like them landed inside
the bay in order to save thc long march from C. By this time
Hill and his leading troops had already started for C Beach
in a lighter. But General Mahon had meanwlile arrived from
Mudros with three battalions and three field companies, and at
7.30 a.M. he was ordered to land with these troops on the
northern arm of the bay. He was told that Hill’s six battalions
were landing at C, and had been placed temporarily under
Hammersley's orders; that they were going to be employed on
the left flank; and that they would revert, to Mahon as soon
as he got ashore. Pending their return, Mahon was to send
Br.-General Nicol with the two remaining battalions of the
joth Brigade along the Kiretch Tepe ridge. On reaching the
line held by the 11/Manchester, Nicol should take that battalion
under his orders and press on with all three battalions in the
direction of Ejelmer Bay.

A copy of these instructions was sent off to 11th D+ Lsion
headquarters. But the message did not arrive till after midday;
and long before that hour General Hammersley had changed his
plans, and Br.-General Hill had been ordered to the extreme
right, with five of his six battalions, to capturc the Chocolate
Hills. Owing to some accurate saelling of C Beach, Hill's sixth
battalion (5/R. Inniskilling Fustliers) had been deflected from
that beach, and eventually disembarked with Nicol’s brigade on’
the northern si le of the bay. But the five which had landed at
C did not rejoin their division for several days. Thus, at the

! Thesec orders were put into writing before Hill left the Jongus! skordy
after 6 AM. See Appendix 10. .
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7 Aug. very outset of the Suvla operations, the organization of the
1oth Division mvas completely disrupted, and the only portions
of the division at General Mahon’s disposal were two battalions
of the 3oth Brigade, one of th= 31st, the divisional pioneers, and
three field companies.

Here it should also be noticed that at au early hour on the
7th August the disadvantages of General Stopford’s position on
board 'ship had already begun to declare themselves.! It is easy
to see now that he would have been better advised to land at once
and establish his headquarters ashore. Buthe judged at the time
that he would be even less able ashore than afloat to exercise any
command: he would be cut nff from Admiral Christian, and,
until the arrival of tne corps signal company, would be unable to
keep in touch with the troops on both sides of the bay.

Br.-General Haggard, who moved forward from Lala Baba
about 5.30 A.M. cn the 7th with the remaining two battalions
of the 32nd Brigade, reached the Cut about 6 A.M. Here he
found a disorganized crowd of mer. of all battalions, while the
5/Dorset and the 8/Northumberland Fusiliers were lined out

- along the coast, facing east, to the north of it. The Turkish
rifle fire was negligible, but a battery of field guns, whose
shrapnel was fortunately bursting very high, was dividing
its attention between the beach and the shipping in the bay.
Hill 10 had at last been located, and appeared to be held by
about a hundred Turks.?

Soon after Haggard’s arrival a converging attack was made on
this post with the equivalent of two and a half battalions. Vastly
outnumbered, and with their line of retreat threatened, the
Turks abandoned their’ trenches and streamed away north-east.

The moment was now ripe for getting units together and
attacking the Chocolate Hills. But by this time the original

orders for tue landing would seem to have been forgotten.
Tne :/Dorset pressed forward in a north-easterly direction
towaras the scrub-covered slopes of the Kiretch Tepe ridge,
and was followed by the bulk of the g/West Yorkshire and by
scattered parties of most of the other gattalions;a

! See page 233. The naval shore signal station was not working till some
time after daybreak. At 5.45 A.M. Admiral de Robeck, arriving at Suvla,
signalled to the Talbot: ““ Do you know what the situation is? ”’ Talbot
.eplied: ‘“ No. There is no signal communication with the shore at all.”

# This su mise was corregt. The rest of the Broussa Gendarmerie had
retired soon after daybrea:. At 6 A.M. an observer on.. Lala Buba saw
‘“about five hundred Turks retiring towards Anafarta ”, but this report
only reached divisional headquarters at 8.45 A.M.

3 Three companies of the Northumberland Fusiliers which General
Sitwell had held back from the attack were now sent forward to Hill 1o.
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Arrived at a point on rising ground:* about sixteen hundred 7 Aug.
yards from the beack, where the scrub was very,thick, Colonel
Hannay halted the 5/Dorset and sent out scouts to his front.
Reporting to General Sitwell, he wrote that the opposition was
slight, and asked for further orders.

It was now about 8 A.M. The 32nd and 34tn Brigades were Sketch
very intermixed, but it would have been easy to sort them out 23:
and make a fresh advance. 'The troops themselves, though
very tired, werc fully capable of an immediate effort. Most of
the units had suffered very few casualties,> and to Colonel
Hannay it was plain that immediate action was essential if the
race against time was to be won. But nothiitg could be accom-
plished without resolute leadership.

V'hen Hannay’s message reached General Sitwell, the 32nd
and 34th Brigade headquarters were established close together.
Br.-General Haggard had been placed under Sitwell’s orders,
and was waiting for a lead from him. General Sitwell deemed
it imperative to adopt a defensive attitude. The news which
had reached him a little earlier—that six battalions of the
1oth Division were moving up to support him—had not altered
this view. His plan was that Colonel Hanna; should seize a
small spur immediately in front of Point 28 and join hands
with the 11/Manchester on the top of the ridge; and that the
rest of the force, inciuding Hill’s battalions, should dig in on
a line between Point 28 and the Cut. This proposal he for-
warded to divisional headquarters at 8§.40 A.M. in a message
reporting the capture of Hill 10,

Previous to the arrival of General' Sitwell’s message at
9.20 A.M., General Hammersley had received no news from
either of his attacking brigades since half past five, and his
knowledge of the situation in front was confined to reports of
observers on the top of Lala Baba. Before the me~..ge
arrived, however, three orders had been issued by divisional
headquarters, each one cancelling its predecessor. At 8 A.M.,
on hearing that Hill 10 was appdrently captured, General
Hammersley issued a definite order, numbered G.98, that
on the arrival of the 3ist Brigade, the 32nd and 34th
were “‘to push on vigorously to Yilghin Burnu [the Choco-
“late Hills]”. The 31st Brigade (Hill's command) was to
protect their le’t flank by advancing south-east from Hill 10

* Point 28. Sce Sketch 23. .
2 The g/Lancashire Fusiliers and 6/Yorkshire had suffered heavily, and
the g/West Yorkshire had lost several officers since daylight.
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with the right of its line directed on Ismail Oglu Tepe (the
W Hills).*

This was in effect an invitation to further delay. Sitwell’s
and Haggard’s brigades wete ‘“‘to push on vigorously”, but
they were not to start till Hill’s brigade had arrived. And
Hill’s troops had only just begun to land, and could not be
ready to carry out their part of the task for at least another
three hours.

Soon after the issue of this order, however, observers on
Lala Baba reported that the 34th Brisade and a large part
of the 32nd had apparently advanced north-east from Hill 10.
About the same tiine a Turkish shell burst within a few yards
of General Hammersley, killing Major H. L. Nevill of the
divisional staff and two orderlies, and wounding an A.D.C.
General Hammersley, who was in a baa state of health, was
naturally much shaken, -

A few minutes later, presumably as a result of the report
from Lala Baba, a second order, cancelling the one issued
at 8 A.M., was issued from divisional headquarters. It was
not addressed to Sitwell, but only to Haggard and Hili:

8.35 AM. Reter~r.ce my G.y8, reserve troops 32nd Brigade and
31st Brigade will push vigorously on to Yilghin Burnu and Ismail
Oglu ‘repe. Understand situation has changed since my G.g8.
What news have you of 34th Brigade ? )

' N. MavrcoLm, Lt.-Col. G.S.

This new order gave little indication of the respective
objectives of the two brigades which were to carry out the
attack. Taken literaily, It apparently meant that ‘the 32nd
Brigade was to attack the Chocolate Hills and the 31st Brigade
the W Hills. But either this was not the divisivnal com-
mander’s intention or he changed his mind as soon as the order
was issued.

At this moment, about a quarter to nine, Br.-General Hill
reporied at divisional headquarters, and showed General
Hammersley the order given him by the corps. Hammersley
told him that, as soon as his troops were concentrated, he was
to move them forward to the north of the Cut, get into touch

! It has already been noticed (set page 129) that the alternative names by
which these neighbouring hills were known caused serious misunderstandings
on 7th Aug.. When the term * Yilghin Burnu and Ismail Oglu "Cepe ” was,
quite correctly, used in orders to express * Chocolate Hill, Green Hill
‘‘and the W Hills ”’, many orficers, who saw the hills for the first *ime that
day, took Yilghin Burnu tc refer to Chocolate Hill and Ismail Oglu Tepe
to Green Hill, immcdiatc?' to the eust of it. This was undoubtedly ‘the

q

reason why, later in the day, some of the troops ordered to advance on
Israil Oglu Tepe ignored the W Hills altogethes.
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with Haggard, and attack the Chocol=te Hills. His left flank 7 Aug.
would be protected, by the 32nd Brigade, which would be
advancing simultaneously against the W Hills.

Br.-General Hill pointed out with some rezson that if sent
to the extreme right he would be completely separated from
the rest of the 1oth Division, It was explained to him, however,
that there was no alternative, and he then hurried back to the
beach to do what he could tu accelerate the disembarkation.

A third ordo=r, either in amplification or substitution of the
one despatched at 8.45 A.M., was now sent off by the division
to General Haggard:

9.5 A.M. 31st Brigade with six' battalions_has been ordered to
advance to Yilghin Burnu. Your reserve should move on outer flank
31st Brigade against Ismail Oglu Tepe. Watch your left flank to-
wards Anafarta. ' J. DuncaN, Major, G.S.

This order did not agree with the verbal instructions just
issued to Hill. General Hill had been given to understand
that the whole of the 32nd Brigade would be moving on his
outer flank against the W Hills (Ismail Oglu Tepe). General
Hagpard had been told merely t» employ his ‘‘ reserve”, what-
ever that might be; and herein lay the germ of another regret-
table delay.

In the forward zone, meanwhile, the earlier changes in the
11th Division orders were already causing trouble. 'The eight
o’clock order reached General Sitwell at 8.45 A.M., and seems
to have given him the lead he badly needed. At once he wrote
to Colonel Hannay:

8.55 AM. 31st Brigade of.six battalions now on the way to
Hill 10. On its arrival 32nd and 34th Bdes. will move on Yilghin
Burnu. 3ist Bde. proceeding with right on Ismail Oglu Tepe pr~.
tecting the left o/ 32nd and 34th Brigades from direction - Baka
Baba. Northumberland Fusiliers will attack Yilghin Burnu sup-
ported by Lancashire Fusiliers and 22nd Brigade. You will cover
north flank of advance. '

These instructions unfortunately were not allowed to stand.
Not long after their despatch the two subsequent orders, sent
off at 8.35 A.M. and 9.5 A.M. respectively, reached Haggard ir
quick successic n, and were shown by him to Sitweil. Sitwell
was senior brigadier, but bis own brigade had been allotted
no task in either message. The result was unfortunate. He
cancelled his own orders and took no turther action.
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7Aug.  Haggard was now in a quandary. At 9.45 A.M, he reported
to General Hammersley that he perscnally had only the
numerical equivalent of one battalion available to attack the
Chocolate Hills, and that he was moreover under the orders of
Br.-General Sitwell.

The Anzac corps had run a telzphone wire along the beach
from Anzac Cove to 11th Division headquartess at daybreak,
and at half past ten a message of first class importance reached
Hammersley from General Birdwood. A number of wagons
and a Turkish baitery were retiring eastwards from Anafarta
Sagirl. The enemy was already preparing to evacuate the Suvla
plain

At this point in the story, before describing the advance on
Chocolate Hill, another report must be noticed, which reached
General Hammergley at 7 AM. It came from the two battalions
of the 33rd Brigade which had entrenched a line from the south-
east corner of the Salt Lake overnight,! and it stated that their
daybreak patrols had located ‘‘a strong force of Turks” on
Chocolate Hill. Many officers of these two battalions were
chafing for orders o attack the hill from the south-west, and
there >an now be no doubt that such an attack would have
been the simplest solution of General Hammersley’s problem.
Chocolate Hill und Green Hill would have been an easy target
for the ships’ guns, as well as for the three batieries by that
time in position on Lala Baba; and now that five of Hill’s six
battalions had landed, the whole of the 33rd Brigade could well
have been spared for the operation.

But the earlier information from G.H.Q.—the definite but
unfortunate warning that the Chocolate Hills position was
strongly wired on its south-western face >—had made an in-

. delible imp-ession. Not unnaturally, no one at divisional
hewdauarters questioned the wisdom of adhering to the original
plan to avoid the uncut wire.

By 10.30 A.m. Br.-General Hill had issued orders to his
three leading battalions 2 fcr their attack on Chocolate Hill and
Green Hill, and he then pushed ahead to confer with Haggard
with regard to the co-operation of the 32nd Brigade. Hill had

« 1 These battalions were directly under the orders of divisinal head-
quarters. ¢ ) . .

* Actually the position was only protected by a few s.rands of cld rusty
wire, which did not form = serious obstacle. Elsewhere at Suvla there was
no wire at all, . )

3 The 6/R. Inniskilling Fusiliers and 5/R. Irish Fusiliers of the 3ist
Brigade, und the 7/R. Dublin Fusiliers of the 30th Brigade.
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ordered his own battalions to cvoss ths Cut, skirt the northern 7 Aug.
edge of the lake, and then deploy for attack. The 32nd Brigade,

he had added, would be marching simultaneously on the W

Hills, and would protect their left flank,

On Hill’s arrival at 32nd Brigade headquarters, Haggard
explained that he was under Sitwell’s orders and could not
move without his sanction. Hill next addressed himself to Sit-
well; but Sitwell urged that the writ‘en orders which he had
seen did not azree with the verbal orders given to Hill, and
that, in any case, as his (Sitwell’s) own brigade was engaged
with the Turks beyond Hill 10, he could not for the moment
spare any of Haggard’s men for a further operation. He was
responsible, he said, for the adequate "protection of the
beach.

General Hill now had to choose between carrying out his
own part of the attack single-handed, o~ referring the matter
to General Hammersley. A reference to divisional head-
quarters would entail a long delay, for there was as yet no
telephone communication. But Hill considered it the only
wise alternative.  General Hammersley had told him that the
Chocolate and W Hills were to be attacked simultaneously,
and in these circumstances it appeared thav an attack on each
group of hills in turn might lead to defeat in detail. He zonse-
quently decided to return to the division, and he started plodding
back through the heavy sand. On the way he met his three
leading battaiions just moving off, and told them to halt and
await further orders. It was now close on midday, and the
heat of the sun was intense.

On arrival at divisional headquarters General Hill was told
that his reading of the orders was correct, and that the divisional
commander had just gone to the top of Lala Baba to watch
the progress of the attack. Recracing his steps he toiled up the
hill, and there he was told by General Hammersley that Lieut.-
Colonel N. Malcolm, his senior staff officer, who had c.ue
forward to 34th Brigade headquarters, would explain everything
to Sitwell, and that the advance on the Chocolate Hills and W
Hills should be cet in motion at onca.

Colonel Malcolm reached Sitwell’s headquarters about
midday, and there he found a corry situation. There was a
certain amount of shell fire, and Br.-General Haggard was seri-
ously ' wounded soon after Malcolm arrived. A largé crowd of -
men near the Cut, who had been starnding about irf the open
since daylight, were to some extent demoralized, but had
suffered few casualties. Sitwell urged very many excuses for
not moving, suci as the great heat, want of water, ani heéavy
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losses, and repeated that he had no troops to spare for offensive
action.

While he and Malcolm were still arguing, a young officer of
the 34th Brigade came up to report that he had been out on
reconnaissance for a long way due east and was convinced that
there were very few Turks. *‘The proof i3”, he said, ‘“that I
‘“ have been out for nearly three hours. I took thirty men with
‘“ me, and I've brought them ali back.”

At this moment Hill’s three battalions came marching along
the spit towards the Cut, and a battery of Turkish guns opened
on them with shrapnel. A number of casualties were suffered,
but the bearing of the troops was excellent. As soon as they
had swung round the northern edge of the lake, Malcolm
started back for divisional headquarters. His last woris to
Sitwell were: “‘You cannot stay here and refuse to support that
‘“ advance”.

About half past two, Br.-General Hill, who had established
his headquarters near the Cut, received a message from his
leading troops. The news was none too goed. The troops were
deployed along a line running from the north-east correr of the
Salt Lake. Th~ 6/R. Inniskilling Fusiliers (Lieut.-Colonel H.
M. CIiff) was on wne right, the 7/R. Dublin Fusiliers (Lieut.-
Colonzl G. Downing) in the centre, and the s5/R. Irish Fusiliers
(Major F. W. E. Johnson) on the left. No units of the 32nd
Brigade had yet arrived to protect their left flank, and the Irish
Fusiliers were being harassed by rifle fire from the direction of
Baka Baba ! and shrapnel fire from the Tekke Tepe ridge.

Hill now hurried off to Sitwell and implored him to order
some of his troops to march on the W Hills, The result of his
visit is shown by his: message to the division, despatched at
3 P.M.:

Have just seen Br.-General Sitwell. No battalions of 32nd or
24th Bde. aie operating on my left flank. Sitwell tells me he will
send *wo battalions forward. There is a good deal of opposition on
my left flank. Am sending 6/R. Irish Fusiliers to strengthen my
line, and have one battalion in reserve.

This message arrived at 3.30 p.M. But by that time the
divisional commander, as a result of Colonel Malcolm’s visit,
had again changed his plan, and new orders were on the way
to brigades. Hill’s attack was to be suspended, ard a1 new
attack, with many more troops and a smaller nbjective, was to
be launched at half past iive.

! This fire must have come from men of the Broussa Gendarmerie, who
hac retirzd in that direction at daylight.
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While walking back from Sitwell’s headquarters, Colonel 7 Aug.
Malcolm had come tv the conciusion that the attack as ordered
would never be carried through. He therefore persuaded the
divisional commander to add to the attacking®force the two
battalions of the 33rd Brigade?! in divisional reserve, and to
order a general assault, on the Chocolate Hills alone, to be
launched at 5.30 P.M., supported by the one field and two
mountain batteries already ashore and by all the naval guns
that could be b.ought to bear. At 2.40 .M., therefore, a new
order, involving a th'rd change in the divisional plan since
8 a.M., was issued to all brigades:

G.123. The advance will be suspended fo:rthe present. It will
be resumed at 5.30 P.M. 33rd Bde. (less 2 battalions) will leave its
present position and mnve with its right north of the Salt Lake, so
as to come on the right of the 31st Brigade, general direction Yilghin
Burnu [the Choco'ate Hills]. This advance will be supported by
all troops of 32nd and 34th Brigades which have not suffered heavy
casualties. General Sitwell to command attack. 31st, 32nd and
34th 2 Brigades will report to General Sitwell for orders. ~ Artillery
has been ordered to cover attack beginning at 5.15 P.M.

J. Duncan, Major G.S.

It will be seen from this order that the idea of a vimul>
taneous advance on the W Hills had now been dropped, and that
Hammersley had entrusted this new attack, whnich was to be
carried out by all the available troops under his command, to
the leadership of Br.-General Sitwell.

Whatever may be thought of this last-minute change of plan,
there can be no doubt that, as things worked out, the deci-
sion to employ the two battalions of the 33rd Brigade was wise.
Unlike the units of the 1oth Division, Br.-General Maxwell’s
battalions had been ashore for' over,a fortnight, including ten
days’ experience of active service conditions at Helles. This
seasoning now stood them in good stead, and the only pity is
that the decision to use them in the attack on the Chocolate Hills
was not arrived at earlier.

The order to suspend the attack reached Hill at 3.10 p.M.
He and Sitwell both agreed, however, that it would be danger-
ous,and in fact impossible, to stop an attack which, so faras they
knew, was beginning to close with the enemy. So this part of
the order was ignored, and the troops in front wefe not in-
formed of the cliange in the divisional plamn.

® The 6/Lincolnshire (Lt.-Colonel M. P. Phelps) and 6/Border Regiment
(Lt.-Colonel G. F. Broadrick).
2 Evidently a mistake for 33rd.

VOL. I1I S
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This disregard of o:zders, however, made no perceptible
difference, for.the advance of Ilill’s battalions had been defin-
itely checked by fire from the front and flanks. On the right the
6/Inniskilling I'usiliers was still held up on the northern edge
of the Salt Lake. The 7/R. Dublin Fusiliers was some little
way ahead, and the 5/R. Irish Fusiliers, slightly behind on the
left, was still being harassed by shrapnel and by the aggres-
sive tactics of skirmishers on its left flank. It had suffered a
number of casualties, and was unaware of the eremy’s numbers
and dispositions. About five o’clock *wo companies of the
Inniskillings began to advance across the north-east corner of
the lake by alternaie rushes, and the 7/R. Dublin Fusiliers and
5/Irish Fusiliers alsu made some progress; but at a quarter past
five, when the British guns began to open fire, they werc still
half a mile from their objective.

Br.-General Maxwell’s two battalions—6/Lincolnshire and
6/Border Regiment—started off as soon as they received their
orders. They were told to skirt the Salt Lake and attack Choco-
late Hill on the right of the Irish troops. But they, too, were a
long way behind the divisional time-table, and 1t was nearly
half past six wh-n, to save time, they started advancing straight
across the lake—the Lincolnshire in front and The Border
Regim.ent in support.

The troops of the 32nd and 34th Brigades, who were origin-
ally to have attacked the W Hills, were even further behind.
About 3 p.M. General Sitwell detailed the 8/Northumberland
Fusiliers of his own brigade and the 8/West Riding and the
6/York & Lancaster of the 32nd Brigade for this part of the
operation; and a company of the 5/Dorset, separated from
its own unit, seems to have joined in without orders, But it
took a long.time to collect all the troops; and the new orders
of the division, which now called upon them only to support
the attack cn the Chocolate Hills, had probably added to the
confusion.? .

Daylight was already fading when the attack began to
develop. The shios ? had long ago ceased firing. But the
guns on Lala Baba had reopened on Chocolate Hill, and,
under cover of this fire, a number of the Irish troops had
reached the foot of the hills. Here their advance had again
been checked. But soon after seven o’clock the fire of the

! Since the wounding of Br.-General Haggard the 32nd Brigade staff
were getting orders direct ftom General Sitwell. Coloael Minosue, who
had succeeded to the command of the 32nd Brigade, was still with a portion
of the g/West Yorkshire near Point 23.

* The cruisers Theseus and Grafton south of Nibrunesi Point, and the
Taldot in Suvla Bay.
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defenders slackened, and the ;impetu$ so long required was 7 Aug.
now supplied by the arrival of the 6/Lincolnshire. Surging
forward in short rushes, this battalion, supported by The
Border Regiment, assaulted the western end of ‘Chocolate Hill.

The leading troops of the Irish battalions,simultaneously
attacked the eastern half and also Green Hill, and, just as dark-

ness set in, the whole position was at last in British hands. The
majority of the Turkish garrnison made good their retreat to the

W Hills, but a small rear guard fought stubbornly to the end.

For a long time, with five battalions intermixed on the
slopes of the twin hills, there was a great deal of confusion,
and this was increased by the darkness.! Though the fighting
had now died down, no scouts were sent out, and touch with
the enemy was lost.?

The rest of the night was passed in absolute tranquillity,
and units were gradually reorganized. After midnight Br.-
General Hill arrived to superintend the consolidation of the
position, and the two battalions of the 33rd Brigade were
ordered by him to withdraw to the foot of the hills. The
battalions of the 22nd and 34th Brigades had not been seriously
engaged,® and about midnight wzre recalled by Sitwell to the
beach. No definite report of the capture of the hill reached
divisional headquarters till 1 A.M., and the fact that Green Hill
had also been taken was not made clear till seven hours later.

On the extreme left of the Suvla front progress on the 7th
August was even less satisfactory than_on the right. The
trouble began with very serious delays in landing the troops
which arrived with General Mahon from Mudros. General

! The Final Report of the Dardanelles Commission, commenting on
the situation at Chocolate Hill, states: ,

‘“ None of the three brigadier-generals concerned in the attack on -
‘“ Chocolate Hill—Generals Sitwell, Hill and Maxwell—accompani-d the
“troops. They established their renort centres about two miles”distant
“ from Chocolate Hill, and remained there. In the absence of superior
““ military control and guidance on the spot. a force of inexperienced troops
‘“ unacquainted with local conditions, and consisting of a number of bat-
‘ talions drawn from five brigades . . . must have been lacking in cohesion
“and co-operation, and the evidence discloses the confusion and delay
“ which resulted from this cause.”

t The casualties in this attack were heavy,and were evenly shared by all
the battaliuns engaged. Hill’s four battalions lost 20 officer and about
400 men in all. The two battalions of the a3rd, Brigadé los: a total of
7 officerstand 226 men. The strength of the enemny on the Chocolate Hills
at np time exceeded 500 rifles, but some of the British casualties were caused
by artillery fire,

3 Lieut.-Colonel C. E. Fishbourne and one other officer of the 8/Ncgth-
umberland Fusiliers had been wounded.
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Mahon, it will be remembered, was told at 7.30 A.M. that they
would be landed at once on the northern side of the bay.
Soon after 8 .M. lighters went alongside the fleet-sweepers to
take the men ashore, but half an hour later a message came
from the corps that no troops were to land till the receipt of
“special orders’’. The men were thereupon re-embarked on
the sweepers, and the lighters went away. After a long interval
they reappeared, and this time Br.-General Nicol and his
brigade headquarters landed. But on the other fleet-sweepers, in
the absence of the “‘special orders” referied to, the commanding
officers refused to land their men; and it was not till 11 A.M.,
when Commodore Keyes wunt alongside and told them that
their brigadier was ashore, that they at last agreed to move.

It was half past eleven before Nicol’s first battalion—the
6/Royal Munster Fusiliers—began to disembark. Further
delay was then caused by the explosion of some small land
mines on the beach. Several of these contrivances, which
produced an explosion like a bomb from a small trench-mortar,
had been laid by the Turks, and after about six casualties had
occurred, the next battalion to land—the 7/Royal Munster
Fusiliers—was sen* to another small cove a little further to
the west. Here it began to disembark without mishap about
one o’clock. But the progress of the landing continued to be
painfully slow.. The 5/Royal Irish was not ashore till late in
the afternoon, and, though ore company of the 5/R. Innis-
killing Fusiliers, which had been diverted from C Beach in
the morning, eventually reached the shore at 4 P.M., and two
more about six o’clock, the fourth company did not land till
the following day.

Br.-General Nicol’s two battalions of Royal Munster Fusiliers
moved off from the beach about 2.30 P.M. But, in accordance
with the orders issued to their brigadier by General Mahon,
the only task allotted to these troops was to move along the
Kiret.h Tepe ridge in support of the 11/Manchester, which
would come under General Nicol’s orders as soon as the Irish
troops came up into line. -

At this hour the sun was at its hottest; but no opposition
was encountered, and it was not until the troops approached
the line held by the 11/Manchester that they began to suffer
casualties.. As no definite objective had been allntted, no
attempt was nuade to push on beyond this point. The advance
came to an end with nothing accomplished, and a line was
taken up about 800 yards west of the Turkish strong-point on
the summit of the ridge. Touch with the 5/Dorset on the right
flank was not obtained. Soon after 9 .M. the 5/R. Innis-
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killing Fusiliers (less one company) was sent forward to relieve 7 Aug.
the 11/Manchester, and the latwer battalion, which had lost 15
officers and nearly 200 men since it landed, was brought back
to the beach.

It will be seen, therefore, that throughout the first 24 hours Sketch
at Suvla, the only progress made by the IX Corps had been 24
the capture of the Turkish outposts on the two horns of the
bay, and the two strong-poiats on Kill 1o and the Chocolate
Hills. On the Kiretch Tepe ridge the line had not been
advanced beyond the position reached by the 11r/Manchester,
and here the enemy’s strong-point had not been definitely
located. All the encircling hills,, which it llad been hoped to
reach by dawn on the 7th, were still in Turkish possession;
and %4 of the 36 hours which the Turks probably needed to
bring their reserves from Bulair had already slipped away.
More than half of General Stopfora’s force of 22 battalions
had not yet been seriously engaged with the enemy.

Nevertheless the losses of the IX Corps in their first
24 hours ashore had amounted roughly to 1oo officers aud
1,600 men, or rather more than the total strength of the
Turks arrayed against them. These figures, which included
a high proportion of battalion commanders and other senicr
officers, suffice to show the skill of the Turkish riflemen, Jor the
defending force had no machine guns or quick-firing artillery,
and most of Major Willmer’s guns had been sent away at noon
to avoid the apparently imminent risk of capture. The number
of casualties further tends to show that the invading troops
had lost rather than gained by the hesjtation which paralysed
their action. Sitting about near the open beach, or advancing
slowly in the full light of day, they had offered an unrivalled
target to the Turkish snipers. | Throughout the day the British
troops had scarcely used their rifles; the guns ashore had done
little firing; and the naval guns, according to Gerinan reports, .
had done no damage at all.

It was not, however, the military plans alone that collapsed
at Suvla on the 7th August. A failure just as complete attended
the naval plans for the landing of guns and amrmunition, water
and supplies, and transport animnals and carts. This failure
inevitablv reacted on and delayed the advance of the army. No
guns whatever were landed that day, and of the 960 mules which
it was expected to put ashore before nightfall,! only 50 were
landed at Suvla and 100 sent in lighters’from Suvla to Anzac.

Many causes contributed to this naval failure. 'Partly it

R 564 for Suvla, 396 for Anzac.
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7 Aug. was due to the stranding of the lighters of the 34th Brigade, to
the consequent slow progress of the troops overnight, and the
consequent shelling of the beaches and bay at daybreak. Partly
it was due to sending lighters back to C Beach to disembark
Hill’s troops, to the slowness of Mahon'’s disembarkation, and
the protracted detention of lighters for that task. Other causes
were the difficulty of manceuvring lighters in and out of the
rocky coves on the northtrn side of the bay, and the long delay
in erecting jetties and piers.! During the afiernoon, too, a
sudden thunderstorm churned up the water of the bay for two
hours, and at the height of the storm a lighter, full of mules,
was swamped.

These and other unexpected events can all be claimed as
contributory causes of delay. To some extent Rear-Adiniral
Christian’s task was made more difficult by the necessity of
altering the prearranged scheme to suit the needs of the
moment. But it is doubtful if he himself realized the over-
whelming necessity for speed in completing the disembarkation,
or the tremendous issues which depended on his own personal
exertions throughout the 7th August. Particularly serious was
the failure to laad any guns in the course of that day. The
paucity of guns ashore, coupled with a desire to rest his
troops, was General Stopford’s main reason for further delay
on the 8th. :

A partial failure of the plans for the landing of sea-borne
water and sending it forward to the troops led to much suffering
at Suvla, but had 2 less important effect on the course of the
operations. In accordance with the original plan, the water-
tank ship Krini reached Suvla at daybreak on the 7th with
two lighters in tow. But both these lighters grounded a long
way out, and it was late in the afternoon before any water could
be landed inside the bay. Two wells were found on the northern
beach; but near the Cut there were none, and here the shortage
was very acutely felt. In addition to many resting troops,
there were large numbers of leaderless men in this neighbour-
hood. Water was their great need; many of them, having long
since emptied their bottles, were nearly mad with thirst, and

1 The Chief Engineer of the corps, who had landed with the 11th
Division, was originally told that the material for erecting piers would be
landed at A Beach. Subsequently it was decided to land it on the northern
arm of the Bay; but the Chief Engineer, being out of touch with corps
headquarters, wab not told of this; und he and a field ~ompany, specially
detailed to erect the picrs, waiiad in vain all day on the 7th for the material
to arrive at A. The Chief Cngineer was a sick man before leaving Imbros,
and his hea'th broke down on the gth. .

There was no delay with:the work carried out by the Australian Bridging

Trein, which landed with its own stores.
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here for some time in the-afternoon of the 7th there was much 7 Aug.
confusion and disorGer.

Elsewhere the shortage of water was less acute. On the
Kiretch Tepe ridge a certain amcunt was landed in boats from
the destroyer on the northern flank.! Near Jala Baba there
were several wells, and at B and C Beaches there was from the
first an abundance of sea-borne water. Owing to the delay in
landing mules and water-receptacles, it was only possible to send
small quantities of this water to the troops in the front line; but
the discovery of a good well to the north of Chocolate Hill
relieved the situation in that neighbourhood on the night of
the 7th August.

Throughout the 7th August General Headquarters exercised
no influence over the course of the Suvla operations, and their
inactivity on this day, which, in the light of after events, may
be regarded as one of the crises of the World War, can only
be explained as the result of over-confidence. Early in the
morning the continued absence of news from General Stop-
ford provoked for a time a certzin vague ;uneasiness, but this
was dissipated by reassuring reports from other sources. At
8 A.M. Admiral de Robeck signalled that the landing had been
a complete surprise. Turkish prisoners, he reported, were
stating that no fresh troops had reached the area lately, and that
the Turkish force at Suvla consisted of only four battalions.?
‘The 11th Division reported direct to -G.H.Q. that the
landing at B had been most successful, and that, although
General Sitwell’s landing had been ‘‘much hampered by a
‘*“ muddy foreshore”, both the 34th and 32nd Brigades were now
pushing inland. No allusion was made in this report to British
losses or Turkish opposition. From Anzac the news arrived
that ‘‘almost complete tranquillity”” was reigning 'over Suvla,
and that Turkisk guns were retiring through Anafarta Sagir.
Ships returning to Imbros reported that Suvla Bay was full of
shipping, and that troops and stores were lar.ding in accordance
with the plan. '

In the face of these reports, the first message from Stopford,3
received about midday, was astoanding. It gave the position
of his troops at 7.30 A.M., showing that even Hill 10 had not
been captured at that hour; and it ended with the phrase: ‘‘As

1 Though the troops were unaware of it‘throughout the campaign,
therg was a magnificent spring of v-ater a few hundred yards in rear of the
Turkish position they were attacking on this ridge.

! Actually, as we now know, it consisted only of three.
3 Appendix 11. '
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“ you see, we have been able to advance little beyond the edge
“ of the beack”. Looking at it in retrospect, it is perhaps
difficult to understand why, upon receipt of this message, which
disclosed the siow progress of the IX Corps, Sir Ian Hamilton
did not at once proceed to Suvla. Had he done so, and insisted
upon an immediate advance, the duration of the World War
might have been very considerably shortened.

But on the 7th August 1915 no one at G.H.Q. dreamed of
trouble at Suvla, and it seemed essential that tl.e Commander-
in-Chief should remain for the present rt Imbros, where alone
he could keep in touch with the situation at all three points of
attack. It was plain that Gereral Stopford’s message had been
delayed in transmussion. It seemed equally plain that the
situation had greatly improved since the early morning, and
even though a later message from the r1th Division had now
reported *‘fairly heavy casualties in the 32nd and 34th Brigades”’,
there was still no news of serious opposition. Before the land-
ing General Stopford’s one fear had been that the Turks were
in great strength and heavily entrenched.  These forebodings
had proved groundless, and now that the 1oth Division had
apparently land.d safely, no cne anticipated that the IX Corps
would experience any further trouble in pushing forward to
its objectives. This confidence was increased by a message
from the 11th Division that the opposiion on its front was
weakening. ‘

During the afternoon, in the absence of any further news
from General Stopford, Sir Ian Hamilton would appear for the
second time to have had an uneasy suspicion that time was
being wasted, for at 4.20 P.M. his Chief of Staff telegraphed to
the IX Corps:

Have only received one telegram from you. Chief glad to hear
enemy opposttion weakening, and knows you will take advantage of
this to push on rapidly. Prisoners state landing a surprise, so take
every rdvantage before you are forestalled.

But if the mildness of this first application of the spur can
be taken as the measure or his uneasiness, it would seem that
the Commander-in-Chief was still convinced that there was no
real cause for anxiety.

By 6 p.M. on the 7th it had been arranged that General
Birdwood’s corps should renew its attack at daybreak next
morning.’ It was hoped .at G.H.Q. that by that hour both the
Anafarta villages would be in General Stopford’s hands, and
preparations were now completed for assisting the further
advanc:. The 1,800 first reinforcements for the 11th Division
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were sent across from Imbros to Suvlz, and two brigades of the 7 Aug.
53rd Division were crdered up from Mudros to,be thrown into
the fight wherever their presence was needed.,

Turning now to the Turkish side, we have glready seen that
during the night of the 6th/7th August Liman von Sanders had
hesitated to denude the Bulair isthmus of troops, and had
merely ordered Feizi Bey to despatch three battalions to Major
Willmer’s aid.

At 5.30 A.M. on th? 7th—by which hour nine more British
battalions had arrived in Suvla Bay to reinforce the thirteen
already ashore—these three Turkish battaliorls were just starting
off on their long march from Bulair. The road was a rough
track, and there was little chance that they could come into
action for another 30 hours. .

By 7 A.m. Liman von Sanders had n.ade up his mind that
Sir Jan Hamilton was throwing his whole weight into the scale
at Suvla and Anzac, and that his immediate object was the
capture of Hill 971 and Chunuk Bair. Thereupon he ordertd
Feizi Bey to leave only one division at Bulair and to march
south with the 7th and 12th Divis‘ons. He glso drdered a second
division to be sent north from Helles, and every available men
from the Asiatic shore.

If the British advance from Suvla and Anzac could be
delayed for 48 or even 36 hours, these arrangements might
suffice to avert the threatened danger. 'But was it possible for
‘Major Willmer, with only three battalions, to stem the Suvla
tide? In an effort to give him some earlier help, three cavalry
squadrons patrolling the coast north of Ejelmer were now
ordered to Anafarta, and the admiral at ‘Chanak was begged to
despatch a detachment of naval machine guns.

Motoring from Gallipoli town; Feizi Bey reached Fifth
Army headquarters on the afternoon of the 7th. Liman’s news
—mostly inaccurate—told him that some of the troops from
Suvla, pushing south-east towards the Sari Bair ridgé, had
reached Damakjelik Bair.! Others had penetrated the Suvla
plain, and by this time were probably in possession of Anafarta
Sagir, or even Turshun Keui. Feizi Bey was-to concentrate
his two divisions near Selvili,® with outposts in touch with the
enemy. He was to attack the invaders next mqrning and
endeavour to turn their left flaink. Major Willmer’s troops
would come under his orders to co-operzte in this attack.

.Major Willmer had spent the greater part of the 7th August

! These troops, as we know, belonged to General Birdwood’s forces.
¢ Five miles east of Turshun Keui,
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on the Chocolate and W Hills. From him we learn that
his earlier anx‘ety had been relieved to‘some extent by the
hesitation of the invading troops, the greater part of whom were
still apparently nalted near th~ beach. He had seen the advance
of two or three battalions from the Cut early in the afternoon.
Heading eastward, they moved ‘‘bolt upright, as if on parade”.
They did not extend, and ‘“made no use of the available cover”
On reaching the north-east corner of the lake they suffered a
number of casualties and their advance came to an end.

Believing that the British would t:v to push south-cast
through Anafarta Sagir, Willmer decided that the W Hills and
the Anafarta spur must be held at all costs. Every available man
would be needed for that task, and none could be spared for
holding the Chocolate Hills. The British were probably only
awaiting the fall of darkness before making a converging attack
on that position from che north and south-west. About 6 r.m.,
therefore, Willmer ordered the commander of the Chocolate
Hills battalion * not to await this onslaught, but to retire *‘in
“good time” to a new position on the Anafarta spur.

At 7 p.M. Major Willmer reported to Fifth Army head-
quarters:

“ The landing of hostile forces has continued all day. Estimate

their present strength as at least 1} divisions. No energetic attacks
on the enemy’s part have taken place. On the contrary, the enemy
is advancing timidly. His skirmichers were fired on by our artillery
with good cffect.

Hill 10 had to be cvacuated in the face of superior forces. Kiretch
Tepe and Mestan Tepe {Chocolate Hill] still in our hands. Am
expecting a powerful attack against the latter to-night.

Hostile artillery fire till now only from men-of-war. Our artillery
has suffered no damage.

4th Cavalry Regiment arzived at Schamlitekke, 2 miles south-
east of Anafarta Sagir, at 5 P.M., and has been brought up to the
Anafarta spur as dismounted riflemen.? Machine-gun detachment
from the fleet has not arrived.3

Will hold Ismail Tepe [W Hills] position under all circum-
stances. Beg you to hasten z:rival of XVI Corps.

At midnight on the 7th/8th the commander of the 1/31st
Regiment reported to Willmer that he had withdrawn from the
Chocolate Hills with very few casualties, and had recched the
W Hills.

1 ‘The 1/31st Regiment.

3 Abou* 200 men, armed with cavalry carbines.

8 This detachment—4 n.achine guns—reached Anafzrta just before day-
break on the 8th.
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At 1 AM. on the 8th, therefore, the Turkish dispositions in 8 Aug.
the Suvla area were us follows:

On the Kiretch Tepe ridge the three companies of Gallipoli
Gendarmerie were still holding on to their strong-point and had
suffered few losses. Southwards from that point to the neigh-
bourhood of Baka Baba the Suvla plain, as also the Tekke
Tepe ridge to the east of it, was bare of Turkish troops. From
south of Baka Baba to the'W Hills, Willmer’s main line of
defence, on a frontage of roughly 3,000 yards, was held by
about 1,100 men ! an¢ five mountain guns. The two batteries
which during the morning of the 7th were in action on the
forward slopes of the Tekke Tepe ridge had retired at midday
to ifs eastern side. The three battalions which had started
first from Bulair—very weary after their forced march in the
intense heat—had passed through Selvili, and were bivouacking
about two miles east of Turshun Keui; but the rest of Feizi
Bey’s corps was still far in rear.

It will be seen, therefore, that at dawn on the 8th August
the door to victory was still ajar for the IX Corps to enter.
The initial surprise had been so complete that, despite the
long delays, the prize could sti!l be won.  7Victory was still
beckoning. But no more time could be wasted. By the mornirg
of the gth at the latest the door would be bolted and barred.

Broussa Gendarmerie .. . . . 300 men.
I[31st Regiment. B : 3 § 1 . 450 ,,
Dismounted cavalcy. . . . . . 250

Pionecer company . 5 . . : . 100 ,





